0A 6.5.91

017 SID J. WHITE FEB 21 1991 CLERK, SUPREME COURT

eputy clerk

By-

IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

TRAVELERS INSURANCE COMPANY,

Petitioner,

SUPREME COURT CASE NO: 76,432

vs.

JAMES H. QUIRK and MARIE QUIRK, Husband and wife,

> Respondents, Cross-Petitioners,

vs

SOUTHERN AMERICAN INSURANCE COMPANY,

Cross-Respondent.

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON MERITS

	LEE D. GUNN IV
, e	GUNN, OGDEN & SULLIVAN, P.A.
1	POST OFFICE BOX 1006
	TAMPA, FLORIDA 33601
	(813) 223-5111
	Attorneys for Petitioner
	Travelers Insurance Company
	Fla. Bar Number 367192

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, The Travelers Insurance Company, Defendant in the trial court below and Appellee before the Second District, is referred to as "Travelers."

Respondents, Cross-petitioners, James H. Quirk and Marie Quirk, his wife, Plaintiffs in the trial court and Appellants in the Second District, are referred to as "Quirks."

Cross-respondent, Southern American Insurance Company, Defendant in the trial court below and Appellee before the Second District, is referred to as "Southern American."

Key Agency, Inc., Defendant in the trial court below and Appellee before the Second District, is referred to as "Key Agency."

References to the record on appeal are designated by the Prefix "R."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

By order dated January, 22, 1991, this Court accepted jurisdiction over <u>Quirk v. Anthony</u>, 563 So.2d 710 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990) based upon its conflict with <u>Gast v. Nationwide Mutual Fire</u> <u>Insurance Co.</u>, 516 So.2d 112 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987); <u>Pawlik v.</u> <u>Stevens</u>, 499 So.2d 61 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986), <u>review dismissed</u>, 504 So.2d 768 (Fla. 1987); and <u>Empire Fire and Marine Insurance Co. v.</u> <u>Koven</u>, 402 So.2d 1352 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981). Travelers appeals the Second District's reversal of the trial court's granting of summary judgment. The trial court correctly held that the Quirk's

employer's policy with the Travelers did not provide uninsured motorist benefits.

On December 24, 1984, Mr. Quirk was involved in a motor vehicle accident in Charlotte County, Florida. At the time of the collision, Mr. Quirk was a passenger in a truck which was owned by his employer, West Coast Equipment and Leasing and/or West Coast Excavating ("West Coast"). The truck was driven by another employee. The accident occurred when Linda Anthony allegedly pulled her vehicle into the path of the truck. Mr. Quirk alleges severe injuries and Mrs. Quirk brings a loss of consortium claim. (R 1.)

Linda Anthony was insured by State Farm Automobile Insurance Company with liability limits of \$10,000 per person. (R 17.) The Quirks personal automobile insurer, Queen City Indemnity Company, provides limits of \$25,000 per person for UM coverage. Neither the State Farm nor the Queen City policies are involved in this appeal.

Mr. Quirk's employer, West Coast, had two commercial automobile insurance policies. Both of these commercial automobile policies were obtained through Key Agency. (R 231, R 283.) Travelers was a primary policy and Southern American's was an umbrella policy. As issued, neither policy provided UM coverage.

Quirk's claim against Travelers, as set forth in their Second Amended Complaint (R 44), is for uninsured motorist benefits. It is undisputed that the Travelers insurance policy issued to West Coast did not contain uninsured motorist coverage. (Policy number 650-557F386-9-INV-84, renewal of policy IND-82; see exhibits to

Dignam deposition, after R 566 and R 291.) Quirks claims are based on Travelers alleged failure to obtain a knowing, written rejection of uninsured motorist coverage in accordance with § 627.727, Fla. Stat. (1983). Travelers filed two motions for summary judgment, one directed at the adequacy of the form of rejection (written), and the other directed at the adequacy of the rejection (knowingly made). The District Court reversed the trial court's granting of Travelers summary judgment motions based upon its holding that the Quirks have standing to contest the absence of a written rejection by the named insured and upon a further finding that Key Agency acted on behalf of Travelers, as a matter of law, in failing to obtain a written rejection.

Prior to the collision involving Mr. Quirk, West Coast had secured liability coverage on its vehicles through Key Agency. Key Agency is an independent agency representing more than one company. (R 560.) In addition to any relationship with Travelers, Key Agency was a licensed agent for Auto-Owners Insurance Company, Service Insurance Company, Ohio Casualty Insurance Company, and New Hampshire Insurance Company, at the time the Travelers policy was issued. (R 557.) Mr. Dignam, president of Key Agency, is a member of the Independent Insurance Agents Association of Florida. (R 560.) Mr. Dignam testified that the function of an independent agent is to shop for insurance and obtain the best price and the best coverages for his customer, in this instant West Coast. (R 560.)

Key Agency first obtained automobile liability insurance coverage on behalf of West Coast through a quotation for insurance dated December 15, 1982. (R 349, 530.) The initial quotation did not include any uninsured motorist insurance coverage. (R 349.) Based upon this quotation, Key Agency obtained a liability policy for West Coast through Iowa National. (R 227.) The Iowa National policy had an effective date of February 11, 1983, and consistent with the quotation, did not provide any uninsured motorist coverage. (R 533.)

In late 1983, Key Agency was having problems with Iowa National and sought out different insurance coverage for West (R 259.) In making this search, West Coast's president, Coast. John Haines, relied on Key Agency to act on behalf of West Coast and in West Coast's best interest. (R 425.) Mr. Haines expected Mr. Dignam to determine what insurance was needed; Mr. Haines was not interested in the company from which coverage was obtained, but was interested only whether he received proper coverage at a good (R 426.) Mr. Haines accepted Mr. Dignam's recommendations price. regarding insurance for West Coast. (R 427.) Mr. Haines depended on Mr. Dignam to have the proper insurance for West Coast. (R It was Key Agency's responsibility to make sure that West 430.) Coast was covered properly. (R 117.) Further, Mr. Haines testified:

Q: That you relied on Mr. Dignam's [Key Agency's] experience in the insurance industry to advise you and recommend various types of coverage to you and to make sure that West Coast Equipment and Leasing had full coverage?

A: That's right. Exactly.

(R 117, 118.) Key Agency's obligation was to get the best price for insurance that he could for West Coast. (R 121, 122.)

Key Agency concluded that West Coast did not need uninsured motorist coverage. (R 552, 554.) Mr. Dignam decided that it was not necessary since West Coast did not allow employees to take its vehicles home. Since the vehicles were only used for work-related purposes, the employees were already covered by workers compensation. (R 261, 262.)

Prior to obtaining coverage for West Coast from Travelers, the account between John Haines (West Coast) and Key Agency was "renewed". (R 261.) Travelers received West Coast's application (R 341) for the insurance at issue, signed by Mr. Dignam. (R 342.) Various coverages were selected on the selection page. (R 352.) Uninsured motorist coverage was not selected. (R 352.) Furthermore, the application contains a document which states "Uninsured motorist coverage rejected." (R 354.) In response to this application, Travelers issued a policy of insurance that contained the requested coverages and did not contain uninsured motorist coverage.

ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. WHETHER THE QUIRKS LACK STANDING TO RAISE THE ABSENCE OF A WRITTEN REJECTION AS A BASIS FOR INCREASED UNINSURED MOTORIST COVERAGE.
- II. WHETHER KEY AGENCY ACTED AS A BROKER FOR THE NAMED INSURED AND REJECTED UNINSURED MOTORIST COVERAGE.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT I

The trial court correctly ruled that, as an employee of the named insured (Class II insured), the Quirks lacked standing to raise the absence of a written rejection as a basis for increased uninsured motorist coverage. To the extent that the Second District decision attempts to hold that a Class II insured is entitled to challenge an insurance carrier's failure to obtain a written rejection as a basis for increased UM coverage, its opinion must be modified to comport with the logic and holdings of <u>Gast v.</u> <u>Nationwide Mutual Fire Insurance Co.</u>, 516 So.2d 112 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987) and <u>St. Paul Fire and Marine Insurance Co. v. Smith</u>, 504 So.2d 14 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987), <u>review denied</u>, 511 So.2d 299 (Fla. 1987).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT II

There are no genuine issues of material fact concerning the status of Key Agency when it applied for the Travelers Insurance Company policy in question. The Second District's reversal of Travelers' summary judgment on this ground is the result of a misapplication of insurance agency law to the facts of this case. The Second District's holding that an independent agent is the insurance company's agent, and not the insured's broker, whenever the relevant insurance company is also one of the agent's licensed companies is a departure from well-established Florida Law to the contrary. Empire Fire and Marine Insurance Co. v. Koven, 402 So.2d 1352 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981) and Auto-Owners Insurance Co. v. Yates, 368 So.2d 634 (Fla. 2d DCA 1979), cert. denied, 378 So.2d 351 (Fla. 1979), cert. denied, 378 So.2d 351 (Fla. 1979). See, Acquesta v. Industrial Fire and Casualty Insurance Co., 467 So.2d 284 (Fla. 1985) (holding that husband was bound by wife's written rejection of uninsured motorist coverage as his agent.)

Clearly, where the insured charges an independent insurance agency with the obligation to determine the best coverages to protect the corporation's interests and to obtain those coverages at the best price available, the agency is acting on behalf of the insured in making those determinations and in obtaining those coverages. Implicit in the decision not to include uninsured motorist coverage as a part of the insurance program is the rejection of that coverage. Thus, the independent insurance agent

is clearly charged with the authority and the duty to make the determination of coverages and to reject those coverages, including uninsured motorist coverages, which it believes are not required by the interest of the named insured corporation.

The undisputed facts demonstrate that Key Agency made a knowing rejection of UM on behalf of its customer upon the authorized determination that West Coast's business interests were adequately served by the provision of workers compensation benefits to those employees operating vehicles within the course and scope of their employment. The Second District's ruling that the insurer is bound by a licensed independent agent's actions concerning the obtaining of (or failure to obtain) an uninsured motorist rejection ignores the practicalities of this instance and the thousands of other instances where multi-line agents place competitively priced and quoted coverages on behalf of their corporate clientele.

ARGUMENT I

I. THE QUIRKS LACK STANDING TO RAISE THE ABSENCE OF A WRITTEN REJECTION AS A BASIS FOR INCREASED UNINSURED MOTORIST COVERAGE.

Florida's Uninsured Motorist Statute vests the right to reject uninsured motorist coverage in any named insured. § 627.727(1), Fla. Stat. (1983). The named insured of the Travelers policy is West Coast. Thus, the exclusive right to reject is vested in West Coast and its rejection is binding on all other insureds. Whitten v. Progressive Casualty Insurance Co., 410 So.2d 501 (Fla. 1982). Mr. Quirk is most accurately described as a second class or class II insured for purposes of UM coverage. <u>Mullis v. State Farm Mut.</u> <u>Auto Ins. Co.</u>, 252 So.2d 229, 239 (Fla. 1971).

Today's statute creates a conclusive presumption of a knowing rejection where a written rejection is obtained in a form approved by the Insurance Commissioner. § 727.727(1), Fla. Stat. (1989). The statute in effect at the time the Travelers policy was issued required only a written rejection. § 627.727(1) Fla. Stat. (1983). It was not until the year after the Travelers policy was issued that the form of the written rejection was statutorily proscribed. § 627.727(1), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1984). (Corresponds to Chapter 84-41, Section 1(1), Laws of Florida).

In the instant case, the Second District implies that the written rejection required in 1983 is a "basic statutory requirement," as opposed to one of the "technical requirements" of the statute, such as the annual notice of the availability of UM

benefits required to be sent with the premium notice. Florida Statutes § 627.727(1)(1980). There is no logical basis for elevating the statutory requirement of a written rejection over the statutory requirement of annual notice. So long as the Second District's opinion is limited to a holding that class II insureds may require the insurance carrier to prove that the named insured waived the right to written rejection by otherwise making a knowing rejection, it is consistent with the existing body of case law in this area.

For example, in <u>Gast v. Nationwide Mutual Fire Insurance Co.</u>, 516 So.2d 112, 133 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987), Knapp, the employer, filed an affidavit stating it knowingly wanted only \$20,000 in uninsured motorist benefits available based on business considerations. The insurer could not produce the statutorily required written rejection in the approved form. The Court ruled that the employee driver of a company vehicle could not complain that the company's policy lacked a written rejection. Importantly, <u>Gast</u> dealt with the 1985 version of the Uninsured Motorist Statute which <u>did</u> require a specific statutory form of written rejection.

<u>Gast</u> correctly held that the important issue is whether the employer, as the named insured statutorily authorized to reject the coverage, did so, irrespective of the defects in form. <u>Gast</u> is also consistent with a long line of Florida cases dealing with deficiencies in pre-written rejection requirement cases and annual notice cases. <u>Federal Insurance Co. v. Norris</u>, 543 So.2d 776 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989) (employee has standing to determine the extent of any

employer rejection); St. Paul Fire and Marine Insurance Co. v. Smith, 504 So.2d 14 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987), review denied, 511 So.2d 299 (Fla. 1987) (Police officer had no standing to contend that the failure to provide an annual notice of the availability of uninsured motorist benefits resulted in benefits being available. The Court recognized the officer's standing to inquire whether a knowing rejection had been initially made.); Compass Insurance Co. v. Woodard, 489 So.2d 1157 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986) (holding that the employee was without standing to object to the failure of the carrier to issue an annual notice where the employer had knowingly chosen not to receive UM coverage); Guarantee Insurance Co. v. Sloop, 473 So.2d 784 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985) (Employer's insurance consultant made a knowing rejection on behalf of the employer and the employee was bound by this rejection); Cullars v. Manatee County, 463 So.2d 484 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985) (an employee has standing to determine whether the employer initially made a knowing rejection of uninsured motorist coverage); and <u>Del Prado v. Liberty</u> Mutual Insurance Co., 400 So.2d 115 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981), pet. review dismissed, 407 So.2d 1105 (Fla. 1981)(employer can waive statutory rights to require a written rejection by testifying that a knowing rejection was made at the time the policy was issued and employee lacks standing to complain of the technical the deficiencies).

In summary, the express statutory language of § 727.727(1), Fla. Stat. (1983), vests the right of rejection in the named insured. A rejection by the named insured is binding upon

additional insureds. Mr. Quirk, as an employee of the named insured is a class II insured. As such, he cannot be heard to complain of the failure of compliance with the technical requirements concerning written rejection or annual notice. Rather, Quirk's inquiry is limited to solely whether West Coast made a timely knowing rejection of UM coverage otherwise available.

ARGUMENT II

II. KEY AGENCY ACTED AS A BROKER FOR THE NAMED INSURED AND REJECTED UNINSURED MOTORIST COVERAGE.

Key Agency was charged with the responsibility for determining the nature and extent of coverage required to best protect the business purposes of Mr. Quirk's employer, West Coast. While charged with this duty and responsibility, Key Agency, made the decision to request quotes and make application for coverages <u>that</u> <u>did not include uninsured motorist benefits</u>. It is within these undisputed facts that the trial court correctly granted summary judgment in ruling that West Coast, through Key Agency, made a knowing rejection of uninsured motorist benefits.

Critical to the Second District's decision to reverse the trial court was its holding that an independent agent acts as the insurance company's agent concerning the obligation to obtain a proper rejection of UM coverage when the relevant insurance company is one of the agent's licensed companies. In support of this holding, the Second District elevates form over substance by treating a multi-lines licensed agent as though it were a captive agent for purposes of UM rejection. The opinion ignores prior Second District precedent and that announced by her sister districts that examine the substantive factors for determining whether a given agency is acting as the agent for the insurer, or the broker for the insured.

The single most important factor to be considered is whether when determining that uninsured motorist benefits would not be a

coverage provided to West Coast by <u>any</u> carrier's policy, Key Agency was acting for West Coast. The record is absolutely crystalline that such is the case. Moreover, the decision not to have uninsured motorist benefits by West Coast through Key Agency was totally "independent" of the Travelers policy. The Travelers policy replaced the Iowa National policy that also lacked UM benefits.

The distinction between an insurance broker and an insurance agent is explained in 3 <u>Couch on Insurance</u> 2d, § 25:92 (1960);

An "insurance broker" is one who acts a middleman between the insured and the insurer and who solicits insurance from the public under no employment from any special company, and who, upon securing an order, places it with a company selected by the insured, or, in the absence of such a selection, with a company selected by himself; whereas an "insurance agent" is one who represents an insurer under an employment by it. <u>Whether</u> a person acts as a broker or agent is not determined by what he is called but is to be determined from what he does. In other words, his acts determine whether he is an agent or a broker.

(Emphasis supplied.)

In discussing the status of an insurance broker, 16 <u>Appleman</u>, <u>Insurance Law and Practice</u>, § 8726 (1968) states:

A broker is ordinarily defined as one who acts as a middleman between the insured and insurer and who solicits insurance from the public under no employment from any special company, but having secured an order either places the insurance with a company selected by the insured, or in the absence of such selection, with a company selected by the broker. He enjoys no fixed or permanent relationship to an insurer but rather holds himself out for employment by the general public. A broker is ordinarily employed by a person seeking insurance, and when so employed, is to be distinguished from the ordinary insurance agent who is employed by an insurance company to solicit and write insurance in the company. In <u>Auto-Owners Insurance Co. v. Yates</u>, 368 So.2d 634 (Fla. 2d DCA 1979), the Second District relied upon these quoted definitional standards for determining the difference between an insurance broker and an insurance agent in the context of a UM rejection. <u>Id</u>. at 636, 637. The <u>Yates</u> court ruled as a matter of law that the subject agency was not acting under the authority of the insurer at the time it received an uninsured motorist rejection from another agent. <u>Id</u>. at 638. Justice Grimes cited further from <u>Appleman</u>: the mere fact that the insurance broker receives his compensation from the insurer does not change his status as a broker, since as a general rule, insurance brokers are compensated out of premiums and make no additional charge for their services to the insured. <u>Id</u>. at 637.

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