QA 6.5-91

047

FILED
SID J. WHITE
MAR 13 1991
CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By [Signature]
Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF FLORIDA
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

TRAVELERS INSURANCE COMPANY,

Petitioner,

SUPREME COURT
CASE NO. 76,432

vs.

JAMES H. QUIRK and MARIE QUIRK,
husband and wife,

Respondents,
Cross-Petitioners,

vs.

SOUTHERN AMERICAN INSURANCE COMPANY,

Cross-Respondent.

_____ /

RESPONDENT KEY AGENCY, INC.'S BRIEF ON MERITS

✓ Robert M. Daisley FBN 377880
ANNIS, MITCHELL, COCKEY,
EDWARDS & ROEHN, P.A.
Post Office Box 3433
Tampa, Florida 33601
Attorneys for Respondent
Key Agency, Inc.
(813) 229-3321

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

ARGUMENT I

I. THE QUIRKS LACK STANDING TO RAISE THE ABSENCE OF A WRITTEN REJECTION.

In the opinion below, the Second District candidly pointed out the confusing nature of uninsured motorist law that has resulted from the frequent changes to Florida's UM statute throughout the 1980s. Unfortunately, however, the Second District's conclusion that the Quirks have standing to raise the absence of written rejection in this case only adds to the confusion.

Before the Second District's opinion in this case, two cases governing the standing of Class II insureds to challenge UM rejections served to create a relatively straightforward rule. In St. Paul Fire and Marine Insurance Co. v. Smith, 504 So.2d 14 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987), review denied, 511 So.2d 299 (Fla. 1987), the Second District held that an employee of the named insured could not complain of the insurer's failure to comply with the annual notice requirement because the annual notice was a technical requirement rather than a basic requirement of UM insurance law. Consistent with Smith, the Fifth District in Gast v. Nationwide Mutual Fire Insurance Co., 516 So.2d 112 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987) held that an employee of the named insured could not challenge the insurer's failure to obtain a written rejection in the approved form under the 1985 UM statute.

In both Gast and Smith, the courts distinguished the "technical" requirements of the UM statute, i.e., annual notice and written rejection on an approved form, from the "basic" statutory requirement of obtaining a knowing rejection from the named

insured. These cases made it clear that the Class II insured had standing to challenge the substance of whether the named insured made a knowing rejection, but not the form of the insurer's documentation of that rejection.

The Second District's decision in this case adds a confusing twist to the formerly clear rule. The Second District held that the Quirks had standing to challenge the lack of a written rejection in this case because the statutory requirement of a written rejection is in the view of the Second District a "basic" statutory requirement. However, the Second District went on to state that the absence of a written rejection does not resolve a challenge by a Class II insured because the named insured can waive the written rejection requirement. The District Court's opinion suggests that the issue ultimately becomes a question of burden of proof; after a Class II insured establishes the lack of a written rejection, the carrier must then prove that the named insured waived the right to a written rejection by otherwise making a knowing rejection. Quirk v. Anthony, 563 So.2d 710 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990).

The rule announced by the Second District in this case is potentially confusing. On the one hand, the decision recognizes the standing on the part of a Class II insured to challenge a written rejection. On the other hand, it suggests that the ultimate outcome of the issue rests on whether the carrier can otherwise prove a knowing rejection by the named insured. To

describe the issue as one involving a shifting burden of proof really does not serve to establish a clear rule.

The Second District's attempt to reconcile its holding with the Gast case serves to highlight the preferable clarity of the Gast opinion. In Gast, the Fifth District squarely held that a Class II employee lacks standing to raise the absence of a written rejection. In Quirk, the Second District first held that a Class II insured does have standing to challenge the insurer's failure to obtain a written rejection, but then the Quirk court went on to hold that the carrier could overcome the lack of a written rejection by proving that the named insured otherwise made a knowing rejection. The Gast rule was clear; the Quirk rule is unnecessarily confusing.

Not only does the Gast rule represent the clearer holding, but also it leads to results more consistent with the overall framework of the UM statute. As pointed out by Travelers in its brief, the named insured, not the Class II insured, holds the right of rejection pursuant to the UM statute. The named insured's decision on whether to reject UM coverage binds the Class II insureds. The named insured, after all, has to make the decision on whether to pay the premium for the coverage. Thus, if the named insured knowingly decides not to purchase UM coverage, the Class II insured should have no standing to challenge any technical deficiencies in the form of that knowing rejection. The only issue should be whether the named insured made a knowing rejection of UM coverage.

ARGUMENT II

II. WHETHER KEY AGENCY ACTED ON BEHALF OF THE NAMED INSURED IN REJECTING UNINSURED MOTORIST COVERAGE.

The question of the status of the independent insurance agent who procures an insurance policy repeatedly arises in insurance coverage disputes such as the instant case. Often, the determination of the status of the independent agent determines whether or not the court will find coverage, as exemplified by this case. In the instant case, the trial court granted Travelers' summary judgment on the basis of a finding that Key Agency acted on behalf of the named insured, West Coast, in making a knowing rejection of UM benefits.

In holding that in this case Key Agency acted as Travelers' agent for the purpose of obtaining a proper rejection of UM coverage, the Second District focused on the general relationship between the independent agent and the carrier rather than on the particular function the independent agent was performing at the time of the act in question. In doing so, the Second District attempted to fashion an easy to follow rule. However, because the rule does not take into consideration the function of the independent agent at any given point in time, the court had to expressly limit its holding to the "limited purpose" of obtaining UM rejections.

By focusing on the contractual relationship between Key Agency and Travelers, the Second District unfortunately elevated form over substance. The form of the relationship of the independent agent with the carriers through whom it obtains policies provides only a

starting point for analyzing on whose behalf an independent agent is acting at any given point in time. An independent agent can and usually does have contractual relationships and licenses with numerous carriers. See Fla. Stat. §626.331(2) (1989). In this case, Key Agency's President, Mr. Dignam, held licenses not only with Travelers, but also with Auto Owners Insurance Company, Service Insurance Company, Ohio Casualty Insurance Company and New Hampshire Insurance Company.¹ Thus, finding out with whom an independent agent is licensed does not go very far in determining on whose behalf the agent is acting.

Consistent with the general principles of agency, to determine on whose behalf an independent agent is acting, the court should focus on the act itself. Because the independent agent serves as a middle man between the insured and the carrier, hence the term "broker,"² he or she must perform various functions on behalf of each. The most direct way to examine when the independent agent

¹ Licenses are issued in the names of the individual independent agent rather than the independent agencies for whom they work. (R. 222). See also Fla. Stat. §§626.094, 626.301(2) and 626.331(2) (1989).

² The terms "broker" and "agent" have caused some confusion because generally independent agents use the terms differently than the courts do. Independent agents sometimes refer to surplus lines agents such as Crump London Underwriters, through whom Key Agency procured the Southern American policy, as "brokers." Because the term "broker" in the case law is merely conclusory shorthand for "agent for the insured," see Auto Owners Insurance Co. v. Yates, 368 So.2d 634, 636 (Fla. 2d DCA 1979), cert. denied, 378 So.2d 351 (Fla. 1979), a lot of confusion could be eliminated by dropping the significance of any distinction between the terms "broker" and "agent." The important point is not whether an independent agent is called "broker" or "agent," but rather whether the independent agent is considered agent for the insured versus agent for the insurer.

performs on behalf of the insured and when the independent agent performs on behalf of the carrier is to focus on where the act in question falls within the chronology of events that takes place in the issuance and servicing of an insurance policy.

Before the application for a particular policy, the independent agent must meet with the insured and review the insured's desires for coverage. At this point, of course, the independent agent has a vast array of companies or "markets" to consider. The independent agent is not even restricted to the companies through whom he or she is licensed because he or she has access to surplus lines agents such as Crump London, the surplus lines agent through whom Key Agency obtained the Southern American policy in this case. During this preliminary stage in the process, the independent agent can only be considered to be acting on behalf of the insured because no particular insurance company has been identified.

In this case, when West Coast first worked with Key Agency on its insurance, West Coast was shopping for an agency on the basis of coverage and price. (R. 116).³ West Coast did not care about which particular insurance company or companies ended up writing the coverage. (R. 116).

³ This Court should not forget the significance of price to insureds. If an independent agent does not present a proposal with the lowest price, he or she usually does not get the account. Key Agency obtained West Coast's business only by saving West Coast substantial premium dollars, which Key Agency accomplished in large part by recommending that West Coast reject UM coverage. (R. 553-554). West Coast's President, Mr. Haines, described the cost of coverage as his "major concern." (R. 432).

As part of this preliminary stage, the independent agent and the insured must determine what type of coverages will be applied for. Without knowing the types of coverage ultimately desired by the insured, the independent agent cannot know what carriers should be considered. Thus, while discussing with the insured the type of coverage to be applied for, the independent agent is still acting on behalf of the insured and not any particular carrier.

The decision on whether to select or reject UM coverage occurs during this phase of the process in which the types of coverage are selected. The UM selection or rejection is incorporated into an application which the independent agent submits to a particular carrier or carriers. The fact remains, however, that the insured's decision on UM coverage is made while the independent agent is acting on behalf of the insured and not any particular carrier.

The undisputed facts in this case demonstrate how this chronology of events takes place in practice. Mr. Dignam of Key Agency initially proposed to Mr. Haines of West Coast that West Coast could save substantial premium dollars by rejecting UM coverage, which Mr. Dignam suggested would not be necessary as long as West Coast carried worker's compensation coverage and employees drove company vehicles only while on company business. (R. 553-554.) Mr. Dignam followed up this proposal with a written quotation for insurance dated December 15, 1982. (R. 349, 530.) The written proposal did not include any uninsured motorist coverage. (R. 349.) This proposal called for coverage to be obtained through Iowa National Insurance Company and upon

acceptance of the proposal, Key Agency ultimately procured an Iowa National policy with an initial effective date of February 11, 1983. (R. 227.) Consistent with Mr. Dignam's suggestion and the written proposal, the Iowa National policy did not contain any uninsured motorist coverage. (R. 553.)

Without question, Mr. Dignam acted on behalf of West Coast in making his recommendations concerning the rejection of UM coverage. It follows, then, that Mr. Dignam also acted on behalf of West Coast in carrying out the acceptance of that recommendation in applying for coverage first with Iowa National and then later with Travelers.

The specific act at issue in this case is the application for a Travelers policy without UM coverage. Key Agency was not performing any function for Travelers in this regard. Presumably, Travelers would have been happy to accept premiums from West Coast for UM coverage.

This Court correctly focused on the actions of the agent in resolving the agency issue in Acquesta v. Industrial Fire and Casualty Co., 467 So.2d 284 (Fla. 1985). In Acquesta, the court held that a wife's rejection of UM coverage was binding on her husband because in applying for the automobile insurance policy, she was acting on behalf of her husband. The court agreed with the reasoning of the Fourth District which had found no basis to distinguish between a wife acting as agent for her husband and a "broker" acting on behalf of its insured. See also, Empire Marine Insurance Co. v. Koven, 402 So.2d 1352 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981).

By properly focusing on the significant act of rejecting the UM coverage, the Acquesta court also addressed whether the agent in that case (Mrs. Acquesta) had her husband's authority to apply for the insurance on his vehicle and to reject uninsured motorist coverage. The court concluded that the record there revealed that the wife had at least apparent authority to do both.

In the instant case, the testimony is undisputed that Mr. Dignam had actual authority from West Coast to act on West Coast's behalf in selecting the insurance coverages to be applied for. Mr. Haines testified that he relied upon the expertise of Mr. Dignam and always agreed to follow his recommendations. (R. 117-119). Mr. Haines stated that West Coast "more or less left it in his hands to handle things for us and make sure we were covered properly." (R. 117).

Mr. Dignam's recommendation regarding UM coverage was clear. He suggested that West Coast reject UM coverage and instead cover its employees through worker's compensation coverage. The premium savings enabled Key Agency to obtain West Coast's business.

The fundamental problem with the Second District opinion in this case is that it confuses the issue of documenting the insured's decision on UM coverage with the actual decision itself. The substance of the UM statute governs the decision itself of making a knowing and informed rejection of UM coverage. The statute also addresses the form of the decision through the technical requirements such as the requirement of written evidence of rejection on an approved form. The statute imposes the

technical requirements upon the insurer, who must comply or face the consequence of being held to provide UM coverage for which it received no premium. The substantive decision on whether to purchase or reject UM coverage, however, rests squarely with the insured, who may decide to follow the recommendations of his independent insurance agent and effectively delegate the decision to that agent.

The UM statute should not be interpreted so as to fictionalize the relationship between the independent agent and his insured on whose behalf he acts, depending upon whether or not the independent agent happens to have a license with the carrier through whom coverage is ultimately obtained. In this case, West Coast had expressed a desire to save premium dollars and Key Agency developed a proposal to meet that desire in part through rejection of UM coverage. West Coast made the decision to rely on Key Agency's expertise in this regard. West Coast's decision to rely on Key Agency had nothing to do with Travelers or whether Key Agency was licensed with Travelers. Rather, the decision had to do with the relationship between West Coast and Key Agency, and Key Agency's sensitivity to West Coast's concern about the cost of its insurance.

Because Key Agency was acting on behalf of West Coast rather than Travelers in making the decision on whether to reject UM coverage, Key Agency should be considered the agent of West Coast for the purposes of UM rejection. To hold otherwise conflicts with the well-established principles of agency law by ignoring the

reality of what function the agent was performing when it acted on behalf of its principal.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, Key Agency respectfully requests that this Court reverse the Second District's opinion in Quirk v. Anthony, 563 So.2d 710 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990) and reinstate the final summary judgment entered in favor of Travelers. Because the summary judgment in favor of Travelers moots the claim of the Quirks against Key Agency, Key Agency also requests that if this Court rules as requested, that it also reinstate the final summary judgment entered in favor of Key Agency.